
 

 

CITY OF BELLAIRE TEXAS 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

JUNE 13, 2017 

 

 

  

 Council Chamber Regular Session 6:00 PM 

7008 S. RICE AVENUE 

BELLAIRE, TX  77401 

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/7/2017 4:23 PM Page 1   

I. CALL TO ORDER AND ANNOUNCEMENT OF QUORUM 

Chairman Frazier called the meeting to order at 6:01 PM, and announced that a quorum was 

present consisting of the following members: 
 

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 

Jonathan Saikin Commissioner Present  

Mike Axelrad Commissioner Absent  

Winfred Frazier Chairman Present  

Bill Thorogood Commissioner Present  

Marc Steinberg Commissioner Present  

Dirk Stiggins Vice Chairman Present  

S. Lynne Skinner Commissioner Present  

John McDonald Director Present  

Zachary Petrov Assistant City Attorney Present  

Ashley Parcus Secretary Present  

Trisha S. Pollard Council Member Absent  

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM PAST MEETINGS 

1. Planning and Zoning Commission - Regular Session - May 16, 2017 6:00 PM 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Dirk Stiggins, Vice Chairman 

SECONDER: Bill Thorogood, Commissioner 

AYES: Saikin, Frazier, Thorogood, Steinberg, Stiggins, Skinner 

ABSENT: Axelrad 

III. REMINDER TO CITIZENS DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE COMMISSION 

Chairman Frazier reminded anyone who wished to speak to the Commission to fill out a 

speaker form.  

IV. GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Chairman Frazier informed the public that there would be two opportunities to speak during 
the meeting, once during the general comments, and another during the public hearing. He 

emphasized that all comments regarding Bellaire High School must be made during the 
public hearing.  

 Persons at the meeting who have indicated their desire to be herd on 

matters of general interest to the Commission by submitting the form 
provided shall have three minutes to present their comments.  The 

Commission is not permitted to fully discuss, debate, or consider items that 



Minutes Planning and Zoning Commission June 13, 2017 

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/7/2017 4:23 PM Page 2   

are not on the agenda.  Questions presented to the Commission may be 

referred to staff. 

There were no general public comments.  

V. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 Docket #SU-2017-02, 03-Public Hearing on an application filed by Steven Gee, 

Project Manager, Houston Independent School District, for a Specific Use Permit, as 
required by Chapter 24, Planning and Zoning, Section 24-531 C. (2) a), for the re-

construction and operation of Bellaire High School, at 5100 Maple Street, within the 
R-1 Residential Zoning District; and for a second Specific Use Permit, as required by 

Section 24-532 B. (2) a), for the re-purposing of Gordon Elementary 

School/Mandarin Chinese Language Immersion Magnet School as Bellaire High 
School's baseball practice facility, at 6300 Avenue B, within the R-3 Residential 

Zoning District. 

1. Presentation of the Public Hearing Process 

Mr. McDonald reviewed the public hearing process for the Commission and the public.  

2. Presentation by the Applicant 

Steven Gee, Project Manager for HISD-Mr. Gee informed the Commission and the 
public that he is the Project Manager for Houston Independent School District. He then 

introduced Sam Savage of PBK Architects, whose firm had prepared the application and 

would be giving the presentation.   
 

Sam Savage, PBK Architects-Mr. Savage stated that this project has been going on 
for nearly 4 years and that this proposal is the result of a collaborative effort by HISD, 

the parents, the faculty, and the surrounding residents. He then showed a picture of the 
existing campus and explained that in the new proposal the school will be taking on all 

parking on site. Mr. Savage stated that because of this, the school has decided to 
propose the construction of an off-site baseball field at 6300 Avenue B in order to open 

up some of the site at 5100 Maple Street, which is the second specific use permit (SUP) 

that is being requested. He then showed the master plan for the school, as well as the 
site at 6300 Avenue B and explained the layout and all of the ingress and egress points 

on the sites, as well as where all of the parking would be located. Mr. Savage explained 
that the science building was completed recently and will be the only building that will 

stay in place. He assured the Commission and the public that the proper amount of 
landscaping will be installed to create the buffers necessary for the residential zone. He 

then stated that the parking garage will be 4 stories, or 38 feet tall, and went on to 
explain the height on the other buildings on the site as well. Mr. Savage then showed 

depictions of the neighborhood views, as well as the traffic flow for the parking garage, 

pick up and drop off, and the buses. He mentioned that another lane will be added on 
Maple so that through traffic will be able to get by.   

3. Staff Findings 

Mr. McDonald informed the Commission that HISD has applied for two specific use 

permits, one for the rebuild and operation of Bellaire High School at 5100 Maple Street, 
and another to re-use the former Gordon Elementary site at 6300 Avenue B for a 

baseball field. He added that both the R-1 and the R-3 Zoning Districts allow for the use 
of schools with a specific use permit. Mr. McDonald pointed out that although this is two 

different applications for two seperate specific use permits, it is being presented 



Minutes Planning and Zoning Commission June 13, 2017 

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/7/2017 4:23 PM Page 3   

together as it is part of one big project. He mentioned that the proposed high school will 

require two variances for the site at 5100 Maple Street, one for an increase in building 
height from 45 to 60 feet and the second for an increase in lot coverage from 50% to 

80%. Mr. McDonald stated that both of these will go before the Board of Adjustment and 
that a decision should be made prior to the Commission's consideration of the SUPs. He 

added that a TIA was provided by the applicant and that the findings from the City's 
traffic engineer will be provided at the next meeting. Mr. McDonald stated thatthe 

parking demand study that was completed stated that 735 on site parking spaces were 
required, which is what is being proposed by the applicant. He added that this will 

remove all of the on-street parking that is currently on the site. He added that there are 

no proposed changes to utilities, water, or wastewater, and drainage will be filed with 
the building plans and will be reviewed by all necessary parties. He added that a new 

drainage system will be installed to address the new building's layout and lot coverage. 
Mr. McDonald mentioned that the security is provided by HISD's Police Department, with 

support from the Bellaire Police Department, and the Fire Department has no concerns 
at this time. He stated that a TIA for the Avenue B site has not been finalized but will be 

completed prior to the consideration of the item, and that the amount of off-street 
parking spaces being proposed is adequate for the site. Mr. McDonald stated that no 

addtional utilities, water, or wastewater will be needed on that site, and a drainage plan 

will be submitted and reviewed by the City.  

4. Public Comments 

i. Persons at the meeting who have indicated their desire to address the 
Commission by submitting the form provided shall have three (3) 

minutes each to present comments concerning the Application. This time 
limit may be extended to five (5) minutes at the discretion of the Chair 

with the consent of the Commission. 

Swati Narayan-Ms. Narayan informed the Commission that she is a member of the 

faculty at Bellaire High School, as well as the Project Advisory Team for the school. 

She added that she is in support of the re-development of the school and that 
change is necessary. Ms. Narayan stated that there are obviously going to be some 

concerns with ingress and egress, but that she wishes the residents would keep the 
greater good in mind.  

 
Tony Gray-Mr. Gray explained that the school has a significant impact on the 

surrounding residents and that he would support the plan with a few conditions. He 
added that this process has taken several years already and that the current 

proposed plan is the best one yet. Mr. Gray mentioned that adequate fencing will be 

needed on the site and that the ingress and egress of the parking garage is an issue. 
He urged the applicant to strongly consider how the students will enter and exit the 

garage.    
 

Rachel Crochet-Ms. Crochet agreed that this is the best plan that the school district 
has proposed so far, and that she is in support of the plan. She added that as a 

resident of Holly Street she would like to see that a right-turn only be implemented 
for buses exiting onto South Rice in an effort to help with the flow of traffic and to 

ensure that they are not going straight onto Holly Street, which is not wide enough 

for a bus to pass through with cars parked on the street. She stated that ultimately it 
comes down to what is best for the kids. Ms. Crochet suggested that the City revisit 

permit parking in the area surrounding the school.  
 

Kevin Topek-Mr. Topek stated that he was not in favor of the loss of vegetation in 
order to construct a baseball field at the old Gordon Elementary site. He then gave a 



Minutes Planning and Zoning Commission June 13, 2017 

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/7/2017 4:23 PM Page 4   

list of the benefits of trees and stated that he felt as though the applicant should do 

what they can to mitigate the damage done to the vegetation on site.   
 

Dan DeHart-Mr. DeHart stated that everything seems to be happening on Maple 
Street and South Rice and asked why only two streets would be used for ingress and 

egress onto the site. He added that parents will continue to drop off on Maple Street 
and that the garage needs to be moved. He mentioned that as is, the current site 

plan does not fulfill the City's mission.  
 

Sandy DeHart-Mrs. DeHart felt that the parking garage is needed, but is not in the 

right location. She mentioned that the residents on Maple already deal with a great 
amount of loitering and the proposed site plan will only make things worse. She was 

also concerned about emergency vehicle access during drop off and pick up times. 
Mrs. DeHart felt that the current site plan will be putting lives at risk.  

 
Mindy Vanderford-Ms. Vanderford stated that she is opposed to the construction of 

a baseball field at the old Gordon Elementary site. She stated that not only would it 
lead to an increase in traffic, but it would also possibly lead to an increase in traffic 

accidents and sexual assault crimes in the area due to the age demographic that 

would be present. Ms. Vanderford also mentioned that she knows drinking is taking 
place on site currently, due to the amount of beer cans/bottles that can be found in 

the trash cans. She pointed out that trees lower the rates of burglary. 
 

Garrrick Behelfer-Mr. Behelfer stated that the parking garage location is not 
acceptable, and that no TIA could conclude that traffic would be improved by the 

location of the garage. He added that the safety of the nearby residents, as well as 
the students and faculty is being diminished.   

 

Elise Neal-Ms. Neal informed the Commission that she lives in close proximity to the 
old Gordon Elementary site and was also concerned about the loss of vegetation that 

is currently in existence. She also questioned what type of fencing and netting was 
going to be present, the frequency of games, whether a loud speaker system would 

be installed, and parking.   
 

Belinda Schmidt-Ms. Schmidt stated that she also lived close to the old Gordon 
Elementary. She felt that the applicant should look into the possibility of  moving the 

trees. She asked about the traffic flow and whether a TIA was completed. Ms. 

Schmidt also asked whether buses would be bringing the kids over to the site or if 
they would be driving their own cars. She then asked what the timeline was and 

about the construction process.  
 

Cindy Reichek-Ms. Reichek mentioned that she understands the need to rebuild the 
high school, however, the parking garage was never on Maple in the previous plans 

that had been proposed. She stated that she feels as though it is a major saftey 
concern.  

 

Wei Sun-Mr. Sun stated that he was very disappointed and shocked to learn of the 
proposed plans. He added that his home was built recently and that his driveway 

approach has already had to be fixed due to all of the traffic that uses his property. 
He agreed that the garage is in the wrong location and goes against the City of 

Bellaire's mission statement. 
 

Candice Chin-Ms. Chin stated that the current proposed plan is not going to work, 
and that the traffic in the area is already awful.  

 



Minutes Planning and Zoning Commission June 13, 2017 

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/7/2017 4:23 PM Page 5   

Sarah Carter-Ms. Carter stated that she lives close to the site at Avenue B. She was 

also concerned about the mature trees on site, as well as drainage/water retention, 
adequate parking, and how and when the field will be used.  

 
Bruce Creswell-Mr. Creswell informed the Commission that he has lived at 5113 

Maple for 47 years and the traffic went from nothing to crazy. He added that most 
days he cannot back out of his driveway. Mr. Creswell questioned whether there was 

enough drainage on site and what the plan was for construction trucks. He stated 
that the parking garage is ridiculous.    

 

Richard Franke-Mr. Franke stated that he is in support of the rebuild of the high 
school, but that the parking garage should be put on South Rice. He added that the 

number one priority is to keep the tax rates going up, and that safety and security 
are second in line.  

 
A. Harkness-Mr. Harkness was concerned that the buses would be able to exit the 

site and go straight over to Holly Street. He added that the esplanade on Holly 
makes it difficult for buses to get by.  

 

Debbie Johnson-Ms. Johnson mentioned that the main thoroughfare is South Rice 
and that is where the ingress and egress should be located. She stated that the 

safety of the children should be the number one priority.  
 

Jill Almaguer-Ms. Almaguer stated that Bellaire High School is a flagship high 
school and that the applicant needs to find the best possible solution to get it right 

for everyone involved. She agreed that South Rice is the main thoroughfare ans 
should be the location of ingress and egress onto the site. Ms. Almaguer also asked 

about the location of the softball diamond.   

 
Todd Blitzer-Mr. Blitzer informed the Commission that he is a member of the PAT 

and that this battle has been going on for three years. He added that the current 
proposal is a solution that it equitable for the size of site that HISD is dealing with in 

this situation. Mr. Blitzer pointed out that this site is the smallest of the HISD sites 
but houses the biggest number of students. He stated that this has been a 

collaborative effort by everyone involved and that he is in support of the proposal.  
 

Gina Depampilis-Ms. Depampilis stated that she does not agree with the former 

Gordon School being torn down to construct a baseball field due to the fact that 
more schools are needed in the area. She mentioned that the ones that are located 

in Bellaire are overcrowded. Ms. Depampilis added that the City Council really needs 
to take a look at the progressive infrastructure of the City and how all of these 

children are going to be educated.  
 

Dr. Camille George-Dr. George informed the Commission that he has lived in 
Bellaire for 17 years, and is concerned about the impact of the baseball field project 

on Russ Pitman Park. He added that he has a two year old and that they utilize the 

park quite often. Dr. George stated that he feels as though the traffic and parking 
has not been addressed correctly.  He mentioned that HISD does not have a great 

track record of keeping their word or managing projects the way that they should be 
managed. Dr. George stated that for those reasons, he was opposed to the school 

using the former Gordon Elementary site for a baseball field.  
 

Chris Young-Mr. Young stated that he has lived on Valerie Street for about 20 
years. He added that based on what they are currently proposing, he will have a 40 

or 60 foot building in very close proximity to his home. Mr. Young mentioned that if a 



Minutes Planning and Zoning Commission June 13, 2017 

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/7/2017 4:23 PM Page 6   

variance was granted for the increase of building height, that could ultimately end up 

anywhere on the site. He added that currently he can see into the science building 
from his home and people in the science building can see them, so there is no 

privacy. Mr. Young stated that his property value is going to decrease with the 
addition of a tall building so close to his home.  

 
Jo Ramchandani-Ms. Ramchandani informed the Commission that she is a resident 

of 5129 Maple Street. She stated that she has recently had some medical issues and 
is concerned that an emergency vehicle will not be able to access her home during 

the busy drop off and pick up times. Ms. Ramchandani mentioned that the staff 

reports suggested that the Fire Marshal has no concerns, and she stated that she 
didn't know how that could be possible. She mentioned that based upon the TIA that 

was completed, there wil be approximately 545 vehicles that will come out of the 
parking garage at peak hour and questioned how long it would take them to get past 

the stop sign at Maple and Ferris. She also agreed with Ms. Vanderford's comment 
regarding an increase in traffic accidents based on the age demographic, as well as 

the comments regarding the fact that the property values are going to decrease.  
 

Aparna Shewakramani-Ms. Shewakramani stated that she currently lives at 5129 

Maple Street with her mother, but that she bought the house about four years ago. 
She mentioned that the parking situation is just not equitable and that everything is 

being dumped on Maple Street. Ms. Shewakramani pointed out that no one that lived 
in the neighborhood surrounding the school were members of the Project Advisory 

Team.   
 

Lynn McBee-Ms. McBee congratulated the audience for their attendance and 
articulation of their concerns. She suggested that the Commission send this 

application back to the applicants in order to address the issues that have been 

presented by the public. Ms. McBee stated that the City must require that impacts of 
change be shared reasonably and equitably, therefore, the parking garage needs to 

be relocated. She added that she was delighted to see the new facilities for biking 
and biking storage, but mentioned that Ferris Street needs to have a new bike lane 

seperated from the vehicular traffic. Ms. McBee stated that the enemy of this project 
is density and growth, and suggested that there be a condition put on the SUP that 

the school's attendance should not exceed an enrollment of 2500 or 3000 students. 
She then asked if underground access to the parking garage would be a possibility.  

 

Chairman Frazier mentioned that there were also several written comments that had 
been received by the Commission.  

5. Response of Applicant 

Mr. McDonald pointed out, prior to the rebuttal from the applicant, that the variance 

requests will be specific to a building and a location on the site and would not be granted 
generally across the property. He added that the variance requests are not part of the 

Commission's decision making.  
 

Mr. Gee thanked all of the residents for their comments and stated that they are 

listening to the concerns that were voiced. He added that a lot of the questions that had 
come up were things that HISD will be addressing when they get into the design aspect 

of the school, however, they are currently still in the conceptual design phase of the 
project.  

 
Mr. Savage thanked the community for all of the concern that was raised, and stated 

that they are very cognisant of those concerns. He added that Dustin Qualls, a principal 



Minutes Planning and Zoning Commission June 13, 2017 

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/7/2017 4:23 PM Page 7   

with Traffic Engineers, Inc, was present to give more information about the TIA that 

they completed for the project. Mr. Savage stated that he was going to let Mr. Qualls 
discuss the possibility of relocating the parking garage, which would then move more 

traffic and volume to South Rice.  
 

Mr. Qualls informed the Commission that his passion is in helping schools with vehicular 
and pedestrian traffic and that he is there to listen and work to provide solutions that 

benefit everyone involved.  He added that the study is written as a technical report but 
that he would be happy to visit with anyone to discuss the laments terms of what study 

says. Mr. Qualls stated that getting some metered traffic on South Rice, with the 

installation of traffic signals at both Holly and Maple, would make a huge dent in 
achieving segregation and safety improvements for the area. He also mentioned that 

they are not against the idea of seeing what could be done to relocate the garage to 
another area of the site plan, for instance, possibly opening up onto Holt Street and 

making it a four-way intersection. Mr. Qualls pointed out that one of the primary 
objectives that is taken into consideration is to ensure that all off-site parents, students, 

and staff can be housed on site. He reiterated that with the addition of the parking 
garage, all of the on-street parking will be removed and will help improve the site 

circulation compared to what it is now.  

 
Mr. Savage mentioned that there were many comments about how the buses were going 

to exit the site and stated that HISD can control the bus routes. He added that he 
understands the concern regarding the loss of mature trees at the former Gordon 

Elementary site, and assured the public that they would do whatever they could to 
minimize the impact of the trees on that site. Mr. Savage mentioned that there will 

always be coaches present at the site when the baseball team is there, so there should 
be no issues with unsupervised students. He added that fencing and netting will 

absolutely be installed around the baseball field at the Avenue B site and that at this 

point they do not plan to install lighting on the property. Mr. Savage stated that he was 
not sure about whether or not sponsor signs would be put up on the property. He 

pointed out that junior varsity games would be played there, but no varsity games or 
play-off games would take place at that site. Mr. Savage stated that he would have to 

go back and take a look at the schedule to see about the frequency of the games that 
will be played there. He also mentioned that there have been concerns voiced about the 

traffic that the baseball field will create, and stated that it would be similar to the traffic 
that the school brought in. He added that currently the school is closed but HISD will 

have to utilize that property in some form or fashion.  

 
Mr. Gee mentioned that they are looking into also including the softball facility at the 

former Gordon site. He added that they are working in conjunction with the City of 
Bellaire for a joint-use agreement to share the facility.  

 
Mr. Savage stated that they do not plan to have big windows which would invade on the 

privacy of the surrounding residents. He added that they may have some high, small 
windows in order to bring in some natural light, but nothing that would be invasive for 

the property owners. Mr. Savage reiterated that the variance in building height is only 

being requested for a specific classroom within the site, not for the site in general. He 
pointed out that they did look into underground access to the parking garage, but felt 

that it was not feasible due to the increase in cost as well as the fact that the property is 
located in the floodplain.   

6. Questions from the Commission 

Commissioner Steinberg asked if the applicant had looked into the possibility of dumping 

the parking garage into the surface parking lot and then forwarding that to Rice.  



Minutes Planning and Zoning Commission June 13, 2017 

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/7/2017 4:23 PM Page 8   

 

Mr. Savage stated that they did take a look at that, but there is concern with dumping 
everything out onto South Rice.  

 
Mr. Qualls mentioned that South Rice is almost at its capacity right now, and some 

access management would have to be completed before that would be a possibility. He 
added that the traffic signals that he previously mentioned would be a good start.  

 
Commissioner Steinberg asked if they had thought about putting a light where the traffic 

would exit versus lights at Holly and Maple.  

 
Mr. Qualls stated that he has not taken a look at that, but feels that it would be worth 

taking the time to do so.  
 

Commissioner Steinberg asked if they had considered removing the drive in between the 
sports field and the school and continuing the access lane like it is right now all the way 

to Ferris, and backing up the buildings on Rice to make an extra lane for the buses to 
drop off as they do now.  

 

Mr. Savage stated that they could take a look at that.  
 

Commissioner Steinberg asked if Maple would still be one-way during those hours.  
 

Mr. McDonald stated that he was not sure what the TIA said with regard to that.  
 

Commissioner Steinberg mentioned that if it takes people 30-45 minutes to get out of 
the garage no one is going to want to park there. He was concerned about how on-

street parking throughout the neighborhood will be controlled.  

 
Mr. McDonald informed the Commission that the City is currently looking into how to 

best control that.  
 

Commissioner Steinberg mentioned the comment made by the applicant that a third 
lane was going to be installed on Maple Street and was concerned with how that was 

going to impact the buffers.  
 

Mr. Savage explained that the right-turn lane will be encompassed on the property of 

Bellaire High School and because of that it will still allow enough room for a tree buffer. 
 

Commissioner Steinberg asked for clarification on whether that was the City of Bellaire 
ROW.  

 
Mr. McDonald stated that they would be using part of the ROW to put in a third lane. He 

added that the main concern from the City's standpoint would be to ensure that the 
sidewalk was still open and available for pedestrian access, which it would be in this 

case. 

 
Commissioner Steinberg asked why the former Gordon site was chosen as the place for 

the baseball field.  
 

Mr. Gee stated that it was actually brought up during many meetings and was suggested 
by Bellaire residents. 

 
Commissioner Steinberg asked if HISD had looked at any secondary locations for the 

baseball school.  



Minutes Planning and Zoning Commission June 13, 2017 

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/7/2017 4:23 PM Page 9   

 

Dan Bankhead, HISD-Mr. Bankhead explained that HISD has a very active real estate 
department that has combed the City for other possible locations. He added that they 

also vigorously chased the Chevron property but were unfortunately unable to secure it.  
 

Commissioner Steinberg asked the applicants if they felt as though they were far enough 
along in their design for the Commission to make a decision on the project as it has 

been presented, or if they would like some additional time to revise the site plan based 
on the comments and concerns that were heard during the public hearing.  

 

Mr. Bankhead stated that he would like for the Commission to look at the plans as they 
have been submitted, with the understanding that they will take the suggestions into 

consideration to possibly revise the design in order to better accomodate the residents. 
He added that they would also be open to any conditions that the Commission feels is 

necessary to attach to the SUP. Mr. Bankhead mentioned that they would like to be able 
to move forward as soon as possible.  

 
Commissioner Steinberg asked if they had looked at the height of the buildings were 

they approach the back of Valerie to see if it blocks the sunlight at any time of the year.  

 
Mr. Savage stated that they did not look at that, but that they would certainly do so. 

 
Mr. McDonald pointed out that the side setback for schools is 20 feet, and they are 

proposing an adequate amount of buffering on both sides of the street.  
 

Commissioner Thorogood stated that he is concerned with the idea of substituting a 
baseball field for a parking garage, while increasing the lot coverage to 80% and tearing 

down an elementary school that is needed in the community due to the changes in the 

demographic areas. 
 

Mr. Bankhead stated that in HISD's opinion, and based on the information that they 
have, there are adequate facilities to educate the kids and there is currently no plan to 

use the former Gordon Elementary as an additional school. He added that the reason 
why Gordon was replaced by the Mandarin School was due to the fact that HISD did not 

have the numbers to support Gordon at that time.  Mr. Bankhead stated that even as it 
stands today, they do not have the kinds of numbers that would prompt HISD to open 

that school again.  

 
Commissioner Thorogood mentioned the resident who stated that she was not able to 

get her child into Horn Elementary because their numbers were too high. He also stated 
that he has heard of other residents who had trouble getting their children into Condit. 

Commissioner Thorogood pointed out that although the schools are built, it seems as 
though the Bellaire residents are not able to go there. He questioned why the 

community should be impacted with this project.  
 

Mr. Bankhead stated that he would have to look specifically at that resident's situation, 

but explained that students that live within the zone of a particular school get first 
priority. He mentioned that in most instances where students are turned away it is due 

to the fact that they are not zoned for that school.  
 

Commissioner Thorogood mentioned that the TIA was based on 3100 students, 
however, the school's website listed an enrollment of 3,572 students. He asked what the 

plan was to reduce the number of students attending the school.  
 



Minutes Planning and Zoning Commission June 13, 2017 

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/7/2017 4:23 PM Page 10   

Mr. Bankhead explained that the bond that was passed included an enrollment number 

of 2,800 to 3,100 students for Bellaire High School and that is the target that HISD is 
looking at. He also mentioned that Bellaire's enrollment is comprised of quite a few 

transfer students. Mr. Bankhead pointed out that with the bond approval, HISD is 
building 20 new high schools which would hopefully cause some of the transfer students 

to go back to the schools that they are actually zoned for. He mentioned that they will 
see a natural distribution once these schools are open.  

 
Commissioner Thorogood asked if HISD would accept an enrollment cap of 3,100 

students as a condition to the SUP.   

 
Mr. Bankhead reiterated that it was already in the plans to get it down to 3,100, but that 

it would be completely up to the Commission. 
 

Commissioner Thorogood asked if any other HISD schools have a multi-story, 600 car 
parking garage. 

 
Mr. Bankhead stated that Lamar High School will have one that is slightly bigger than 

what is being proposed for Bellaire High School and some others have ones that are 

smaller.  
 

Commissioner Thorogood mentioned the topic of a possible joint-use agreement with the 
City for the use of the park facility on Avenue B and asked for more information on that.  

 
Mr. Bankhead stated that HISD has initiated discussions regarding a joint-use 

agreement and would like for that to happen, but nothing concrete has been put into 
place.  

 

Commissioner Thorogood suggested that the batting cages and area noted as "tee ball" 
on the site plan be relocated into the parking lot area, which would leave green space on 

the corner at Avenue B. He also urged HISD to stick with no lighting on the property and 
felt that a possible condition might be to limit the field to only Bellaire High School use. 

Commissioner Thorogood stated that he doesn't feel as though a baseball field is a good 
use for this property when it seems as though there is a demand for more schools in the 

area.  
 

Commissioner Skinner asked if the egress of the parking garage could be moved to 

South Rice without actually relocating the parking garage.  
 

Mr. Bankhead stated that they could look at that possibility, but there is still concern 
with seperating some of that traffic and not dumping it all onto South Rice.  

 
Commissioner Skinner asked if there was a percentage cap on the number of 

neighborhood students that are allowed to go to a school, and if transfer students are 
brought in once that percentage has been met. 

 

Mr. Bankhead explained that in terms of access and availability, everyone who is zoned 
for a school has the opportunity to go to the school. He added that if kids who are zoned 

for a school make up 100% of its attendance then no transfers are allowed in.  
 

Commissioner Skinner mentioned that students do not safely cross the street to get to 
the high school, but mentioned that she is not sure that things of that nature could be 

controlled.  
 

Mr. Bankhead pointed out that the installation of traffic signals will help with that issue.  



Minutes Planning and Zoning Commission June 13, 2017 

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/7/2017 4:23 PM Page 11   

 

Mr. Qualls added that a hedged, landscaped barrier on the west side of South Rice from 
Maple up to Holly would help as well.  

 
Commissioner Skinner stated that the teachers may not want to or may not feel safe 

parking in the parking garage. She asked what incentives there will be in order to get 
them to do so. 

 
Mr. Bankhead explained that an easy in and an easy out will help. He also pointed out 

that the garages will be secured and well-light. Mr. Bankhead mentioned that the 

principal can also mandate that the teachers park in the parking garage.  
 

Commissioner Skinner asked about the detention on the Bellaire High School site. 
 

Mr. Savage explained that a sufficient, underground detention system will be installed to 
mitigate for the proposed increase in lot coverage on the site.  

 
Vice Chairman Stiggins asked if a ramping down system could be added and a traffic 

light installed at the entrance and exit in an effort to control two lanes of traffic coming 

out. 
 

Mr. Bankhead stated that they could take a look at that.  
 

Vice Chairman Stiggins asked if the City could enforce no parking on the north side of 
Maple and Ferris.  

 
Mr. McDonald stated that the City has control over its rights-of-way. He added that 

within the Commission's recommendation they would ask that the City work with Public 

Works to ensure that north Maple and east Ferris were declared no parking areas. 
 

Vice Chairman Stiggins stated that he agrees with all of the previous comments made 
regarding the parking and queuing at the high school. He asked if the Commission could 

put conditions for times of operation on the baseball field.    
 

Mr. McDonald stated that they could to an extent, but that the issue is with the fact that 
the school district and the City have a relationship. He explained that throughout 

Bellaire, the little league and the school district have entered into agreements to share 

the facilities.  
 

Vice Chairman Stiggins mentioned that there is currently no parking on one side of 
Avenue B and asked if that would remain. 

 
Mr. McDonald confirmed that it would stay the same. 

 
Commissioner Saikin asked if there would be a parking attendant at entrance to the 

parking garage. 

 
Mr. Bankhead stated that a parking attendant has not been discussed, but mentioned 

that some of the other parking garages within the district require an ID badge to enter. 
He stated that this would be a possibility for Bellaire High School as well.  

 
Mr. Savage added that the possibility of simply having the arms up in the morning and 

in the afternoon was discussed, and then some sort of ID card would be required at 
other off-times during the day. He mentioned that the specifications of entering and 



Minutes Planning and Zoning Commission June 13, 2017 

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/7/2017 4:23 PM Page 12   

exiting the garage have not been decided yet, but that they do have a very good, local 

parking garage consultant that they are bringing on to help with this.  
 

Commissioner Saikin asked if the Commission would have that information prior to 
consideration of the application.  

 
Mr. Bankhead and Mr. Savage stated that they are really not that far along yet.  

 
Commissioner Saikin then asked who would control the use of baseball field. 

 

Mr. Bankhead stated that ultimately HISD would control who uses the field, but he did 
not feel that they would be sharing it with other campuses.  

 
Mr. McDonald added that a condition could be put on the SUP that would help to control 

that.  
 

Chairman Frazier asked what direction the buses would turn onto South Rice.  
 

Mr. Bankhead mentioned that if the traffic signals were installed then it would give the 

buses the opportunity to turn left, but ultimately it will be what gets the buses out the 
fastest and has the least impact on the neighborhood.  

 
Mr. Qualls pointed out that if the signal is installed then they could possibly time the 

lights to allow for multiple buses to get through within a short amount of time.  
 

Chairman Frazier asked what the width of the sidewalks would be. 
 

Mr. Bankhead stated that five feet is what they normally do on their campuses.  

 
Mr. McDonald added that the requirement within the City is five feet around the outside 

of the site, however the interior sidewalks are at the school district's discretion. 
 

Chairman Frazier asked what the plan is for the students and the surrounding area 
during construction.  

 
Mr. Bankhead stated that the students will stay in place and continue to go to class as 

usual, and the construction company will be responsible for identifying a place for its 

employees to park and then bus the workers over to the site. 
 

Chairman Frazier asked if the parking garage would be a solid wall. 
 

Mr. Savage stated that there will be openings throughout and will look very nice.  
 

Mr. McDonald mentioned that design standards are not present for residential zoning 
districts and suggested that the Commission may want to tie in the design standards for 

the parking garage from the commercial zoning district regulations.  

 
Commissioner Skinner asked how the kids would get over to the baseball fields.  

 
Mr. Bankhead explained that in most cases the coaches would like to have them shuttled 

over together. 
 

Commissioner Thorogood asked if there would be an annoucement system installed at 
the baseball field on Avenue B. 

 



Minutes Planning and Zoning Commission June 13, 2017 

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/7/2017 4:23 PM Page 13   

Mr. Bankhead stated that there will be a small one, but nothing significant as it will only 

be for junior varsity games.  
 

Commissioner Thorogood asked what the months of use would be for the field.  
 

Mr. Bankhead stated that the would have to get more information on that. He then 
thanked everyone for all of the input and stated that they will be taking those things to 

heart. He mentioned that he hoped that the Commission can see their way to approving 
the plan with the condition that some changes are made that were suggested during the 

public hearing.  

7. Invitation for Written Comments, if applicable 

Mr. McDonald reminded the Commission that beginning in July, the meetings will be 

moved to the second Thursday of the month to acommodate for courts, which means 
the July meeting will be on the 13th. He then stated that written comments on the 

application will be recieved until July 5th, at 5:00 PM.  

8. Closure of the Public Hearing 

Motion: a motion was made by Commissioner Thorogood and seconded by 
Commissioner Steinberg to close the public hearing.  

 

Vote:  the motion carried on a unanimous vote of 6-0. 
 

The public hearing was closed at 8:59 PM.  

VI. CURRENT BUSINESS (ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION, CONSIDERATION, AND/OR 

POSSIBLE ACTION) 

1. Consideration and possible action on a request to staff to present a plan 

forward on Visioning Bellaire: Urban Design and Beautification Conceptual 
Master Plan. 

Motion: a motion was made by Commissioner Steinberg and seconded by 

Commissioner Skinner to request staff to present a plan on Visioning Bellaire: Urban 
Design and Beautification Conceptual Master Plan.  

 
Vote:  the motion was carried on a unanimous vote of 6-0. 

 
Chairman Frazier then asked Mr. McDonald if the Commission would be in the position to 

vote on the Bellaire High School application at the July meeting considering all of the 
concerns and proposed changes that were discussed during the public hearing.   

 

Mr. McDonald explained that if the only change in the site plan is regarding the path of 
travel for the garage then an additional public hearing would not be required. He 

recommended moving forward with the consideration at the July meeting and then 
letting the Commission determine whether or not they feel comfortable voting on the 

item.  
 

Commissioner Steinberg asked if the City could give HISD a deadline for submitting the 
additional materials and mentioned that he would not feel comfortable voting on the 

item if a site plan was not sent out to the public prior to the meeting.   

 



Minutes Planning and Zoning Commission June 13, 2017 

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/7/2017 4:23 PM Page 14   

Commissioner Saikin asked what control the City has on the site after construction is 

completed.  
 

Mr. McDonald explained that the City always has the right to control its streets.  

VII. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

There were no committee reports.  

VIII. CORRESPONDENCE 

There was no correspondence.  

IX. REQUESTS FOR NEW BUSINESS, ANNOUNCEMENTS AND COMMENTS 

1. Staff liaison report on the status of projects previously addressed by the 

commission as well as projects for future meetings. 

Mr. McDonald informed the Commission that this would be his last meeting, as his last 

day with the City of Bellaire will be June 30th. He added that he is retiring and taking a 
job as the Community Development Director in the City of Pearland.  

 
The Commission congratulated Mr. McDonald and thanked him for all of his hard work 

over the years. They stated that he would be missed.  

2. The Chairman shall recognize any Commissioner who wishes to bring New 

Business to the attention of the Commission.  Consideration of New 

Business shall be for the limited purpose of determining whether the matter 
is appropriate for inclusion of a future Agenda of the Commission or for the 

referral to staff for investigation 

Chairman Frazier mentioned that two new members will be sworn in at the July meeting, 

however, the current Commission will consider the Bellaire High School application as 
unfinished business, prior to the new commissioners assuming their duties.  

 
Commissioner Thorogood asked what would happen if the Commission was not able to 

vote on the application that night. 

 
Mr. McDonald explained that it would be pushed to August and that the new 

commissioners would be brought up to speed on the application before that meeting. 
 

There was no new business brought to the attention of the Commission.  

X. ADJOURNMENT 

Motion: a motion was made by Commissioner Thorogood and seconded by 
Commissioner Skinner to adjourn the Regular Meeting.  

 

Vote:  the motion carried on a unanimous vote of 6-0.  
 

The meeting was adjourned at 9:13 PM. 


